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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
(ATLANTA DIVISION)

UNITED STATES SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 1:25-cv-
DAVID J. BRADFORD AND JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

GERARDO L. LINARDUCCI,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
(“Commission” or “SEC”), alleges the following:

OVERVIEW

I. From 2020 through 2024, Russell Todd Burkhalter and his company
Drive Planning, LLC ran a massive Ponzi scheme. Drive Planning sold investors
unregistered securities through its “Real Estate Acceleration Loans” program
(“REAL”), for which the company falsely promised investors 10% returns every
three months. In reality, Burkhalter used investor funds to pay fictitious returns to

investors and to support his lavish lifestyle. As of August 2024—when the SEC
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obtained emergency relief from the Court to stop the fraud—over 2,000 investors had
invested more than $300 million in the scheme.

2. Burkhalter did not act alone. Defendants David J. Bradford and
Gerardo L. Linarducci each played a crucial role in perpetrating the REAL Ponzi
scheme.

3. Bradford was Drive Planning’s Chief Operating Officer (“COQO”) and
Linarducci was the Managing Partner and head of Drive Planning’s Indiana branch
office. Together, they formed Drive Planning’s senior management team along with
Burkhalter.

4. In furtherance of the REAL scheme, among other things, Bradford and
Linarducci solicited investors in REAL; managed teams of sales agents who sold the
investment; appeared in videos and social media posts promoting Drive Planning’s
business; and conducted training sessions for agents to boost investments in REAL.

5. In connection with their sales of REAL, Bradford and Linarducci told
investors, among other things, that the promised 10% rate of return was guaranteed;
investors held an interest in underlying collateral as part of their investment; Drive
Planning partnered with real estate developers in profit-sharing agreements; and
profits from those partnerships funded the promised return to REAL investors.

6. These representations were false, and Bradford and Linarducci either

knew they were false or were, at least, severely reckless in making the statements.
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7. In truth, Drive Planning did not generate significant profits from real
estate deals. Instead, the company used most of the investor funds to pay fictitious
returns to other investors, support Burkhalter’s extravagant lifestyle, and pay millions
of dollars in compensation to Bradford, Linarducci, and sales agents they oversaw.

8. Bradford and Linarducci played integral roles in fueling the REAL
fraud. According to Drive Planning’s records, Bradford sold more than $35 million
in REAL investments and his sales team sold more than $100 million. Drive
Planning’s records reflect that Linarducci sold more than $13 million in REAL
investments and his sales team sold more than $30 million.

9. Bradford and Linarducci received millions of dollars in compensation
for selling REAL investments. Between 2020 and 2024, Drive Planning paid
Bradford approximately $26 million in total compensation. Between 2022 and 2024,
Drive Planning paid Linarducci approximately $7.5 million in total compensation.

10. By engaging in the conduct described in this Complaint, Defendants
violated Sections 5(a), 5(¢c), 17(a)(1), 17(a)(2), and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act of
1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a), 77¢e(c), 77q(a)(1), 77q(a)(2), and
77q(a)(3)]; Sections 10(b) and 15(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b), 780(a)]; and Rules 10b-5(a), (b), and (c)
thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5(a), (b), and (¢)].

11. Defendant Linarducci also aided and abetted Burkhalter’s and Drive
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Planning’s violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)],
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)], and Rules 10b-5(a), (b), and
(¢) thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(a), (b), and (¢)].

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

12. The Commission brings this action pursuant to Sections 20 and 22 of
the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77t and 77v] and Sections 21(d) and 21(e) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d) and 78u(e)] to enjoin Defendants from engaging
in the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged in this complaint,
and transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business of similar purport and
object, for disgorgement plus prejudgment interest, for civil penalties, and for other
equitable relief, including conduct-based injunctions described more fully below.

13.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 22 of the
Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77v], Sections 21(d), 21(e), and 27 of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e), and 78aa], and 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

14.  Defendants, directly and indirectly, made use of the mails, and the
means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce in connection with the
transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged in this complaint.

15.  Certain of the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business
constituting violations of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act occurred in the

Northern District of Georgia. Defendant Bradford resides in this district, Drive
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Planning’s principal place of business was in this judicial district, and certain REAL
investors reside in this judicial district. In addition, Defendant Linarducci, in his
management role at Drive Planning, traveled to this judicial district to conduct
business, attend company meetings, and help lead sales agent training.

16.  Defendants, unless restrained and enjoined by this Court, will continue
to engage in the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged in this
complaint, and/or in transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business of similar
purport and object.

THE DEFENDANTS

17. David J. Bradford, age 53, is a resident of Peachtree Corners,
Georgia. Bradford is the former COO of Drive Planning. He began working there
in 2019 and resigned in June 2024. While working at Drive Planning, Bradford
maintained his own personal financial consulting entity. Before working at Drive
Planning, Bradford worked as a church pastor and a retail salesman.

18.  During the SEC’s pre-suit investigation, Bradford asserted his Fifth
Amendment privilege against self-incrimination on all questions related to Drive
Planning and the REAL investment.

19. Gerardo L. Linarducci, age 61, is a resident of Indianapolis, Indiana.
Linarducci is the former Managing Partner of Drive Planning and was head of the

company’s Indiana branch office. He began working at Drive Planning in July
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2022 and resigned from the company in August 2024.

20. Before joining Drive Planning, Linarducci had extensive experience
in the financial industry. From approximately 1996 to 2021, Linarducci worked as
a registered representative for several SEC-registered broker-dealers. He has held
Series 6 and 63 FINRA licenses.

21. Linarducci currently operates several entities that provide financial
planning and professional coaching services, including Integrity Wealth Partners,
LLC; EYE Can Coaching, LLC; and Ducci Enterprise, LLC (all Indiana entities
operated by Linarducci).

22.  During the SEC’s pre-suit investigation, Linarducci asserted his Fifth
Amendment privilege against self-incrimination on all questions related to Drive
Planning and the REAL investment.

23.  Shortly after Drive Planning ceased operations, Linarducci sought to
involve some of his former colleagues in a new venture that would include
financial advice and private placements.

RELEVANT THIRD PARTIES

24.  Russell Todd Burkhalter, age 54, is a resident of St. Petersburg,
Florida. Burkhalter was the sole owner of Drive Planning which he operated from
offices in Alpharetta, Georgia.

25. The SEC filed suit against Burkhalter and Drive Planning on August
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13, 2024. See SEC v. Drive Planning, LLC, et al., Civil No. 1:24-cv-03583-VMC
(N.D. Ga.). The complaint in that action describes the origin, growth, and
operation of the Ponzi scheme. On April 10, 2025, the Court entered judgment as
to liability against Burkhalter enjoining him from, among other things, violations
of the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws, and reserving issues of
financial remedies for later determination.

26. Drive Planning, LLC is a Georgia limited liability company.
Burkhalter formed Drive Planning in 2015, listing himself as organizer and
registered agent, and listing offices in Johns Creek (Fulton County), Georgia.
Since August 13, 2024, Drive Planning has been under the control of a court-
appointed receiver.

FACTS
The REAL Ponzi Scheme

27.  In September 2020, Drive Planning began offering to the public what
it described in promotional materials as a “bridge loan opportunity promising 10%
in 3 months.” Drive Planning named the investment vehicle “REAL” (an acronym
for “Real Estate Acceleration Loan”).

28.  Burkhalter and the sales agents he recruited told prospective investors
that Drive Planning would pool their money and loan it out to property developers,

and/or enter into joint ventures with property developers, and thereby generate the
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profit necessary to meet obligations to REAL investors.

29.  Drive Planning offered the REAL investment for sale nationwide and
accepted investments from international investors.

30. Investors received promissory notes as evidence of their investment,
some of which specifically refer to the funds as an “investment.”

31. Investors generally wired funds into Drive Planning’s bank accounts
when they invested in REAL.

32.  Drive Planning investors did not have any control over how Drive
Planning used their funds.

33. The REAL investment was a Ponzi scheme from day one. In fact,
Drive Planning used funds from the first REAL investor to pay an individual who
had previously invested in an energy investment offered by Drive Planning.

34.  Drive Planning’s REAL investment grew substantially between
September 2020 and May 2024. Drive Planning’s master spreadsheet
(“Spreadsheet”), on which it tracked investments, withdrawals, and other
information, shows that, through May 6, 2024, the company raised more than $336
million from more than 2,000 investors in at least 48 states, as well as other
countries, with $66.9 million of that amount coming from retirement accounts.

35. The above-referenced Spreadsheet was the only tool by which Drive

Planning kept track of REAL investments. Drive Planning did not use accounting
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software or keep typical financial or accounting records.

36.  According to the Spreadsheet, Drive Planning paid $131 million of
purported returns to REAL investors and owed investors $287 million as of May 6,
2024. The available bank records approximately match these values, showing
Drive Planning raised $372 million from investors and repaid them $154.9 million
from September 2020 through June 2024.

37.  Drive Planning had no viable means of generating the profits
necessary to pay REAL investors a 10% return.

38.  In fact, from September 2020 through June 2024, Drive Planning’s
main accounts received deposits of $389.6 million. Of these deposits, at least $372
million (95.4%) were received from REAL investors. During this same period,
Drive Planning only received funds totaling $17.6 million from other sources.

39. Based on the bank records, from September 1, 2020 to June 2024,
investors received “returns” of $154.9 million. With $372 million of REAL
investor funds but only $17.6 million of potential non-REAL investor funds
available, at least $137.2 million of the “returns” were Ponzi payments, sourced

from investor funds.

Summary
Deposits | | Ponzi Analysis
Total Deposits S 389,665,393 _w Non-Investor Deposits S 17,642,625
Less: Investor Deposits (372,022,769) .__,---/"'/ Less: Investor Repayments (154,918,462)
Non-Investor Deposits S 17,642,625 _— (Investor-Funded Repayments) S (137,275,837)
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40. Without new investor funds, Drive Planning would not have been able
to meet its repayment obligations.

41. In addition, Burkhalter spent REAL investor funds to support a lavish
lifestyle. Among other things, Drive Planning and Burkhalter spent $2 million on
a yacht, $4.6 million on chartering private jets and luxury car services, and more
than $300,000 on clothing, jewelry, and beauty treatments.

The Defendants’ Critical Role in the REAL Ponzi Scheme

42.  Bradford and Linarducci each played an important role in perpetrating
the REAL Ponzi scheme.

43.  Bradford was Drive Planning’s Chief Operating Officer.

44.  Linarducci was Drive Planning’s Managing Partner and head of Drive
Planning’s Indiana branch office.

45. Together, they formed the senior management team of Drive Planning
along with Burkhalter and were the public face of the company in promotional
videos and social media posts.

46. Bradford and Linarducci regularly communicated with Burkhalter and
others at Drive Planning regarding the management of the company and REAL
using text messaging and email, and during bi-weekly leadership meetings.

47.  Bradford and Linarducci each personally solicited investors in REAL.

In soliciting prospective investors in REAL, Bradford and Linarducci sometimes

10
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used versions of Drive Planning’s promotional materials that were branded with
their respective names or the names of their personal business entities, and
included photographs of themselves.

48. Bradford began soliciting investors in REAL in September 2020 and
continued doing so until June 2024.

49.  Linarducci began soliciting investors in REAL in July 2022, when he
joined Drive Planning, and continued doing so until June 2024.

50. Bradford and Linarducci communicated with REAL investors and
prospective investors on the phone, through email, and via text message. They
also appeared in videos promoting Drive Planning and/or the REAL investment
that were posted on the company’s website.

51.  In addition, Bradford and Linarducci personally solicited and
managed sales representatives who solicited tens of millions of dollars in REAL
investments. Defendants made the same misrepresentations to their sales agents as
they made to investors.

52.  Drive Planning’s records show that Bradford raised more than
$35 million from investors for the REAL program.

53.  Drive Planning’s records show that Bradford’s sales team raised more
than $100 million from investors in the REAL program.

54.  Drive Planning’s records reflect that Linarducci raised more than

11
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$13 million from investors for the REAL program.

55.  Drive Planning’s records show that Linarducci’s sales team raised

more than $30 million from investors in the REAL program.
Defendants Make Millions from the Fraud

56.  Drive Planning paid Bradford and Linarducci commissions for their
work on REAL and, specifically, for getting investors to invest in the program.

57.  Specifically, although most sales agents received a 4% commission on
each sale, Drive Planning generally paid Bradford 6% commissions and Linarducci
5.5% commissions on funds they raised for REAL. Drive Planning also generally
paid Bradford and Linarducci an additional 1.5% commission on funds their
respective sales agents raised for REAL.

58.  Drive Planning processed most of its payments to Bradford,
Linarducci, and other sales agents using a payroll processing service.

59. Records from the payroll processing service and bank records show
that between 2020 and 2024, Drive Planning paid Bradford approximately
$22 million for his work on REAL.

60. In addition, Drive Planning also loaned Bradford approximately
$2 million for the purchase a home in St. Petersburg, Florida and split the purchase
of a $4 million condominium in Mexico with him.

61. In total, Bradford received approximately $26 million from Drive

12
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Planning based on his work for the REAL program.

62. Records from the payroll processing service and other records show
that between 2022 and 2024, Drive Planning paid Linarducci approximately
$6 million in compensation for his work on REAL.

63.  Drive Planning also bought Linarducci a house for approximately
$2 million in Fishers, Indiana.

64. Intotal, Linarducci received approximately $7.5 million from Drive
Planning for his work on the REAL program.

Defendants Made False and Misleading Statements to Investors

65. Bradford and Linarducci reaped those millions of dollars by making
misrepresentations to REAL investors and omitting material facts in connection
with the offer and sale of the REAL investment.

66. Bradford and Linarducci misrepresented, among other things:

e That Drive Planning would use investor funds for real estate deals;

e That the REAL investment had a “guaranteed return” of 10% every
month,;

e The source of supposed returns paid to investors;

e The existence of profitable real estate development partnerships
which supposedly generated the returns paid to investors; and

e The existence of collateral securing the REAL investment.

13
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67. Based on information provided by Bradford and Linarducci, the sales
agents on their respective teams made similar misrepresentations to investors.

68. For example, Drive Planning promotional materials that Bradford and
Linarducci sent to investors falsely stated that investor funds would be secured and
fully protected by collateral—*“millions of dollars in cash and real estate that
[Drive Planning] own[s] outright.”

69. Bradford and Linarducci also distributed a one-page marketing
document (the “Collateral Sheet)” that listed real estate Drive Planning falsely
claimed to own and use as collateral underlying REAL investments. In reality,
investor funds were not protected by the property listed as collateral on the
Collateral Sheet. In fact, many of the properties were titled in the names of
Burkhalter, his wife, their affiliated entities, Bradford, and Linarducci.

70.  Bradford and Linarducci represented to investors that Drive Planning
had partnerships with real estate developers, but for most of REAL’s duration,
Drive Planning’s only such relationships were with a single Georgia-based real
estate development company and an entity affiliated with Burkhalter’s then
brother-in-law. Neither of these relationships involved an agreement on the part of
the developer to split profits, and the Georgia-based real estate development
company terminated its informal agreement with Drive Planning no later than June

2023.

14
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71.  In connection with the offer and sale of REAL investments, Bradford,
Linarducci, and their sales agents also omitted to disclose:

e That supposed profits paid to investors were actually Ponzi
payments from other investors;

e That there was no profit-generating engine producing the promised
returns; and

e That REAL investments were not collateralized.

72.  The representation of 10% returns every three months required Drive
Planning to earn at least 40% profit per annum from their supposed real estate
investments to pay the promised returns to REAL investors.

73.  In actuality, Drive Planning’s supposed lucrative real estate
development deals would have needed to earn an even greater profit every year to
account for the payment of 4% commissions on each sale and the need for Drive
Planning’s supposed real estate development partners to have a share of the
supposed profits.

74.  Contrary to the representations made by Bradford and Linarducci,
Drive Planning did not have real estate deals that yielded such returns to pay the
promised returns to investors.

75.  In short, Drive Planning gave investors the illusion of such an
enterprise by using money from later investors to pay supposed profits to earlier

investors in classic Ponzi fashion.

15
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Defendants Questioned the Legitimacy of REAL But Continued Selling It

76. Communications between Bradford, Linarducci and others
demonstrate that Bradford and Linarducci had concerns about the legitimacy of
REAL at least as early as spring 2023.

77. On June 6, 2023, Bradford texted Linarducci that he was concerned
about Drive Planning and the REAL program. Bradford indicated that they “need
to get clarity & ability to confirm financials. This is a very serious moment.”

78.  Linarducci responded two minutes later, writing: “Agreed 100%. 1
actually had a breakfast meeting with my coach this morning regarding all this and
my concern and [his] concern as well as the s#$% could be hitting the fan as we
speak. We really need to get this all taken care of.”

79.  OnJune 13, 2023, a sales agent texted Linarducci that the agent was
concerned about how others might characterize REAL as being similar to Ponzi
schemes that were subject to recent SEC enforcement actions. Linarducci
responded that the sales agent should “shut them up and close the deal.”

80. On June 17, 2023, Linarducci texted Bradford a draft message to be
sent to Burkhalter regarding another sales agent’s concerns about REAL and the
need for additional information to verify that it was a legitimate investment. In the
message, Linarducci wrote that “We must address all of [the sales agent’s]

concerns, which I do believe are valid.” [emphasis added].

16
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81.  Both Bradford and Linarducci continued selling REAL investments,
always neglecting to share their valid concerns about the legitimacy of the program
with prospective investors.

82.  On June 27, 2023, Bradford forwarded an email to Linarducci from a
sales agent who decided to stop soliciting investors in REAL because she was
concerned that the investment was not legitimate.

83. In the email, the sales agent wrote: “I started asking questions 2
months ago. I find it unsettling to not receive the answers.”

84.  The sales agent further wrote: “You [Bradford] mentioned ‘The
profits are huge!” Well that’s great news but the only profits [ have seen are 2
small houses listed in the March collateral sheet. . . . They need to be not only
huge, but monthly in order to keep up with the accrual of interest.”

85.  On June 28, 2023, Linarducci emailed Bradford to stop using the
words “investment” and “guarantee” in describing REAL. Linarducci wrote that
the “verbiage” Bradford was using “is a compliance nightmare.”

86.  Linarducci went on to write Bradford: “It is only a matter of time
before YOU open an[] SEC/FINRA case. That will be the end of Drive Planning.”

87. Later in the same email, Linarducci wrote: “[N]ow that all this is out

online, it can get and will get to the SEC and our little gig, is over.”

17
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88.  Despite receiving numerous questions about the legitimacy of the
Drive Planning investment program, Bradford and Linarducci made only limited
inquiry with Burkhalter. Specifically, in August 2023, Bradford and Linarducci
emailed Burkhalter requesting more information, including proof of “REAL funds
brought in and spent or deployed—shown with actual bank statements.”

89. It does not appear that they ever received this information. When
asked whether Drive Planning earned sufficient funds to cover its interest
payments to investors each quarter, Linarducci and Bradford asserted their Fifth
Amendment right against self-incrimination.

90. Both Bradford and Linarducci continued selling REAL investments
for another year without sharing their valid concerns with investors to whom they
sold REAL investments.

91. On February 14, 2024, Linarducci received a forwarded text message
from a sales agent, who in turn had received the following message from his friend
regarding REAL: “Brother, as a friend, use your head. NO investment pays 40%
annually plus 16% commissions. This is a scam and you’re being led into with the
lure of big commissions. It’s a matter of time before the SEC charge[s] the people
involved. I’ve been doing this long enough to see a ponzi when it appears.”

92. Linarducci continued selling REAL investments anyway.

93.  On March 14, 2024, a sales agent texted Bradford that another Drive

18
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Planning sales agent had cautioned people to stop investing in REAL and that the
SEC was investigating Drive Planning and contacting people about the investment.
Bradford responded that “It’s bull@#$%.”

94. On May 21, 2024, Linarducci texted a colleague: “Counsel just called
me. He told me to stop drive offerings.”

95.  The colleague responded, “Oh my gosh! Why?” Linarducci told the
colleague that he would call in 30 minutes and then wrote: “I’m not gonna lie. I
do not have a good feeling about this at all.”

96. Nevertheless, Linarducci continued to solicit investments in REAL.
He did so even though he was a formerly registered representative of a broker-
dealer who held a Series 63 and Series 6 license and had considerable experience
in the financial industry.

97.  As late as June 10, 2024, Drive Planning received a $40,000
investment in REAL after Linarducci solicited the funds from an investor.

98.  On June 13, 2024, the investor emailed Linarducci seeking his funds
back. Linarducci responded that “We have everything under control.”

99.  Bradford also continued to solicit investors in REAL as late as May
24, 2024, despite knowing about the SEC’s investigation and without disclosing it
to investors.

100. Even before Bradford and Linarducci’s private expressions of “valid”

19
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concerns regarding REAL’s legitimacy, they were aware of red flags suggesting a
fraud from their first day at Drive Planning.

101. First, Drive Planning was a small and relatively new company that
was founded and almost entirely operated by Russell Todd Burkhalter. The
company did not maintain financial statements or even use traditional accounting
software in operating its business. Instead, a contractor for Drive Planning tracked
the hundreds of millions of dollars of REAL investments using a Microsoft Excel
spreadsheet.

102. Second, the terms of the REAL program, including the lucrative
returns that were promised, should have, at a minimum, raised suspicion that the
investment might not be legitimate.

103. Drive Planning offered a 4% commission to sales agents (other than
Bradford and Linarducci, both of whom received more). The 4% commission was
to be paid from the proceeds of the supposed underlying real estate development
deal and was in addition to the 10% quarterly return Drive Planning promised to
the investor. Sales agents would receive the 4% commission not only for new
investments, but also for any investors that renewed or “rolled over” their existing
investment. This effectively meant that for a given $1,000,000 that remained
invested in REAL for a full year, Drive Planning could be required to pay

$464,100 in “interest” to the investor and $160,000 in commissions to the sales

20
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agent — a total of $624,100 in that one-year period.

104. The compounding effect of the promised returns in the REAL
program meant that Drive Planning was obligated to pay investors an annualized
rate of return of 46.4%.

105. Drive Planning did not have any revenue stream that could have come
close to covering the obligations from the REAL program.

106. At least one real estate developer sued Drive Planning to enjoin it
from using the real estate developer’s name in connection with solicitations to
prospective REAL investors.

107. As noted above, Drive Planning did not make sufficient funds from
any of its business ventures—including the REAL program—to pay the promised
returns to investors in the REAL program. Instead, Drive Planning used investor
funds to cover the substantial shortfall.

Examples of Bradford’s Sales
Investor A

108. In May 2024, Bradford texted an investor from South Carolina
(“Investor A”) information about the REAL investment. The brochure and other
information that Bradford sent to Investor A were also available on Drive
Planning’s website.

109. The information Bradford provided to Investor A falsely claimed that

21
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Drive Planning would use investor funds in the REAL program to fund bridge
loans to real estate developers. The materials further explained that Drive Planning
would pay investors a 10% return on their investment every three months and that
investors could “roll over” their investment plus the “interest” earned each quarter.

110. The promotional material also falsely indicated that investments in
REAL were protected by collateral in real property.

111. Based on these false representations, on May 30, 2024, Investor A
invested $50,000 in Drive Planning’s REAL program by wiring money to a bank
account number provided by Bradford.

112. Bradford told Investor A that he would receive a promissory note
contract within a few days, but he never did. In addition, Investor A never
received a payment for his investment in the REAL program.

113. Bradford did not disclose that Investor A’s investment would or could
be used to make principal or interest payments to other investors.

114. Bradford also did not tell Investor A that his money would or could be
used to fund personal purchases by Drive Planning’s principals.

115. Bradford did not disclose to Investor A that he had concerns about the
legitimacy of REAL at least as early as June of 2023.

Investor B

116. In 2021, Bradford spoke by phone to another investor in South

22
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Carolina (“Investor B”), soliciting him to invest in REAL. During that call,
Bradford falsely represented that REAL would produce a guaranteed return of 10%
for a three-month investment and that the investor’s funds would be used to make
bridge loans to property developers or to enter profitable joint ventures with
property developers.

117. Bradford spoke to Investor B again in 2022 along with Burkhalter.

118. In their conversation with Investor B, Bradford and Burkhalter
referred him to a list of properties that they falsely claimed were owned by Drive
Planning either solely or as part of a joint venture with a real estate developer
partner and would be collateral for his investment.

119. Bradford did not disclose that Investor B’s investment would or could
be used to make principal or interest payments to other investors.

120. Bradford also did not tell Investor B that his money would or could be
used to fund personal purchases by Drive Planning’s principals.

121. Inreliance on the above false representations and in ignorance of the
above omissions, Investor B invested $45,000 in REAL in 2022. Encouraged by
what he thought were profits on that first investment, he invested another $100,000
in REAL in 2024.

Investor C

122. In 2021, an investor from Georgia (“Investor C”) became aware of

23
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Drive Planning’s REAL program through a pre-existing relationship with
Burkhalter. Burkhalter told Investor C that REAL was a profit-sharing deal in
which Drive Planning provided capital to real estate developers and then Drive
Planning would split the profits from the sale of the developed land. Drive
Planning would also distribute a portion of the returns to investors.

123. Burkhalter told Investor C that investors would be paid a guaranteed
10% return on their investment in REAL. Based on these assurances, Investor C
invested more than $100,000 in REAL.

124. After Investor C’s wife was diagnosed with a serious illness, they
received approximately $300,000 from an insurance policy. Bradford, who by this
time had become acquainted with Investor C, encouraged Investor C and his wife
to invest some of the insurance proceeds in REAL.

125. Based on Bradford’s recommendation that the REAL investment
would be a good use of the insurance proceeds, Investor C and his wife invested an
additional $280,000 in REAL in June 2023.

126. Bradford did not disclose that Investor C’s investment would or could
be used to make principal or interest payments to other investors.

127. Bradford also did not tell Investor C that his money would or could be
used to fund personal purchases by Drive Planning’s principals.

128. Bradford did not tell Investor C that certain of the properties paid for
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by Drive Planning using investor funds were not owned by Drive Planning.

129. In August 2023, Investor C received an email from Drive Planning
with a link to a video labeled “REAL Opportunity Financial Update.” In the video,
Bradford and Burkhalter discussed the status of the REAL program.

130. Based on the representations made in the video by Bradford and
Burkhalter, Investor C believed that Drive Planning was using investor funds in
REAL to fund real-estate development projects on which Drive Planning would
earn a return that would ultimately benefit Investor C as an investor.

131. Bradford did not disclose to Investor C that he had concerns about the
legitimacy of REAL at least as early as June of 2023.

Examples of Linarducci’s Sales

Investor D

132. In or around April 2024, Linarducci spoke to an investor from
Massachusetts (“Investor D’) about Drive Planning’s REAL program. Investor D
had already spoken to Bradford about the investment. Bradford falsely told
investor D that Drive Planning would use investor funds to make short term loans
to real estate developers and builders. Drive Planning would pay investors a
guaranteed return of 10% every three months if they invested in REAL. Investor D
also reviewed information about REAL on Drive Planning’s website.

133. Investor D wanted further assurances about the REAL program, and
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he spoke to Linarducci about the investment. Investor D understood Linarducci to
be a Managing Director at Drive Planning. Linarducci repeated the false
representations that Bradford had told Investor D about the REAL program.

134. In May 2024, Investor D invested all of the funds from a retirement
account that he had in the REAL program.

135. Linarducci and others at Drive Planning did not disclose that Investor
D’s investment would or could be used to make principal or interest payments to
other investors.

136. Linarducci and others at Drive Planning also did not tell Investor D
that his money would or could be used to fund personal purchases by Drive
Planning’s principals.

137. Linarducci did not disclose to Investor D that he had concerns about
the legitimacy of REAL at least as early as June of 2023.

Investor E

138. In May 2023, Linarducci spoke to an investor from Nebraska
(“Investor E”) over the phone about the REAL investment. Investor E understood
Linarducci to be a manager at Drive Planning.

139. Linarducci falsely told Investor E that the REAL program was an
investment opportunity involving a promissory note that funded real estate

development projects. Linarducci falsely indicated that Investor E would earn a
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10% return every three months and that the investment would be protected by
collateral in the form of property owned by Drive Planning. Investor E understood
that these returns would be paid based on the profits Drive Planning earned from
the loans to real estate development firms.

140. Linarducci also sent Investor E promotional materials via email for
the REAL investment. These materials included the name “Ducci University”—
which is affiliated with Linarducci—and one of the brochures included a photo of
Linarducci.

141. The promotional materials falsely reiterated that investors in REAL
would earn 10% returns every three months.

142. The promotional materials also stated the following: “The Real Estate
Loan is Fully Collateralized (Protected) by Cash and Real Estate; The real estate
developers “agree to share their profits with us and our lenders (which is you)”;
and “[T]he risk is really low.”

143. Linarducci told Investor E that REAL was a good fit for them.

144. On July 6, 2023, Investor E invested $60,000 in the REAL program
by mailing a check from a bank account to Drive Planning.

145. Linarducci did not inform Investor E that Drive Planning would pay
Linarducci a commission based on the investment in REAL.

146. Linarducci did not disclose that Investor E’s investment would or
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could be used to make principal or interest payments to other investors.

147. Linarducci also did not tell Investor E that his money would or could
be used to fund personal purchases by Drive Planning’s principals.

148. Linarducci also failed to tell Investor E that Drive Planning did not
own some of the properties that it touted as collateral for the REAL investment.

149. Linarducci did not disclose to Investor E that he had concerns about
the legitimacy of REAL at least as early as June of 2023.

Investor F

150. In the summer of 2023, Linarducci began messaging an investor from
Indiana (“Investor F’) about Drive Planning’s REAL program. Investor F
understood that Linarducci was a manager of the company.

151. Over dinner, Linarducci told Investor F and her husband that they
were good candidates for the REAL investment. Linarducci falsely told Investor F
and her husband that the REAL program was an investment in real estate
development opportunities that paid investors a return of 10% every quarter.

152. Linarducci also falsely told them that investments in REAL were
protected by collateral in the form of property owned by Drive Planning.

153. Investor F asked Linarducci how Drive Planning could generate such
high returns in its REAL program. Linarducci responded by falsely touting the

profitability of Drive Planning’s development deals and said that Drive Planning
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used the Real Estate Development Company for developments.

154. Linarducci also sent Investor F promotional materials for REAL,
which outlined the same false terms he had verbally represented to them.

155. On or about August 18, 2023, Investor F and her husband made an
initial investment in REAL by wiring $35,000 from their bank account to Drive
Planning. They subsequently made additional investment in REAL totaling more
than $200,000.

156. Linarducci did not disclose that Investor F’s investment would or
could be used to make principal or interest payments to other investors.

157. Linarducci also did not tell Investor F that her money would or could
be used to fund personal purchases by Drive Planning’s principals.

158. Linarducci also failed to tell Investor F that Drive Planning did not
own some of the properties that it touted as collateral for the REAL investment.

159. Linarducci did not disclose to Investor F that he had concerns about
the legitimacy of REAL at least as early as June of 2023.

No Registration Statement

160. Drive Planning did not file a registration statement with the SEC for
the REAL investment.

161. No exemption to the registration requirement applied.

162. Nevertheless, Bradford and Linarducci sold and offered promissory

29



Case 1:25-cv-07284-VMC  Document 1  Filed 12/19/25 Page 30 of 39

notes for the REAL investment to investors in many states across the country.

163. Bradford and Linarducci made the offers and sales of REAL
personally and through the sales agents who worked for them via email, social
media, video calls, and through Drive Planning’s website.

164. Many of the investments were made by investors with whom the
Defendants did not have a pre-existing or substantive relationship.

Unregistered Brokers

165. Bradford and Linarducci acted as unregistered brokers by selling
securities in the REAL program.

166. At the time they solicited investors in REAL, neither Bradford nor
Linarducci were registered as a broker or associated with a registered broker-
dealer.

167. They directly solicited investors to purchase REAL promissory notes.

168. Defendants received compensation based directly on those sales,
including millions of dollars in commission payments.

169. Bradford and Linarducci regularly advised investors on whether and
how much to invest in REAL. They also advised investors on whether to roll over
their retirement savings into REAL.

170. Defendants were also involved in negotiations between the issuer of

the REAL promissory notes (Drive Planning) and investors.
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171. Defendants actively solicited new investors through online sources
such as social media, the phone and text message, and through their networks of
sales agents.

COUNT I—FRAUD

Violations of Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act

[15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1)]
(Against Bradford and Linarducci)

172. Paragraphs 1 through 171 are hereby realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

173. Beginning in or around 2020 and continuing through the present,
Defendants, in the offer and sale of the securities described herein, by the use of
means and instruments of transportation and communication in interstate commerce
and by use of the mails, directly and indirectly, employed devices, schemes and
artifices to defraud purchasers of such securities, all as more particularly described
above.

174. Defendants knowingly, intentionally, and/or recklessly engaged in the
aforementioned devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud.

175. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants, directly and indirectly, have
violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 17(a)(1) of the

Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1)].
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COUNT II—FRAUD

Violations of Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act
[15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(2) and 77q(a)(3)]
(Against Bradford and Linarducci)

176. Paragraphs 1 through 171 are hereby realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

177. Beginning in or around 2020 and continuing through the present,
Defendants, acting knowingly, recklessly, or negligently in the offer and sale of the
securities described herein, by use of means and instruments of transportation and
communication in interstate commerce and by use of the mails, directly and
indirectly:

a. obtained money and property by means of untrue statements of
material fact and omissions to state material facts necessary in order to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading; and

b. engaged in transactions, practices and courses of business which
would and did operate as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of such
securities, all as more particularly described above.

178. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants, directly and indirectly, have

violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3)

of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(2) and 77q(a)(3)].
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COUNT III - FRAUD

Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and
Sections (a), (b), and (c) of Rule 10b-5 thereunder
[15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5(a), (b), and (c)]
(Against Bradford and Linarducci)

179. Paragraphs 1 through 171 are hereby re-alleged and are incorporated
herein by reference.

180. Between in or around 2020 and the present, Defendants, in connection
with the purchase and sale of securities described herein, by the use of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce and by use of the mails, directly and
indirectly:

a. employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud,

b. made untrue statements of material fact and omitted to state
material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and

C. engaged in acts, practices, and courses of business which would
and did operate as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of such securities,
all as more particularly described above.

181. Defendants knowingly, intentionally, and/or recklessly engaged in the
aforementioned devices, schemes and artifices to defraud, made untrue statements of
material facts and omitted to state material facts, and engaged in fraudulent acts,

practices and courses of business.
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182. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants, directly and indirectly, have
violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange
Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Sections (a), (b), and (c) of Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17
C.FR. §§ 240.10b-5(a), (b), and (c)].

COUNT 1V — AIDING AND ABETTING (FRAUD)

Aiding and Abetting Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act
[15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)] and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rules 10b-5(a), (b), and (c¢) thereunder
[17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(a), (b), and (c)]
(Against Linarducci)

183. Paragraphs 1 through 171 are realleged and incorporated by reference
herein.

184. As alleged above, Burkhalter and Drive Planning violated Section 17(a)
of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)] and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15
U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rules 10b-5(a), (b), and (c) thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-
5(a), (b), and (c)].

185. Defendant Linarducci knew, or recklessly disregarded, that Burkhalter’s
and Drive Planning’s conduct was improper and knowingly and/or recklessly
rendered to them substantial assistance in this conduct.

186. By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Linarducci aided and abetted

violations of and, unless enjoined, will continue to aid and abet violations of Section

17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)] and Section 10(b) of the Exchange
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Act[15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rules 10b-5(a), (b), and (c) thereunder [17 C.F.R. §
240.10b-5(a), (b), and (c)]. He did so in violation of Section 15(b) of the Securities
Act [15 U.S.C. § 770] and Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78t].

COUNT YV — UNREGISTERED OFFERS AND SALES OF SECURITIES

Violations of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act
[15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c)]
(Against Bradford and Linarducci)

187. Paragraphs 1 through 171 are realleged and incorporated by reference
herein.

188. By virtue of the foregoing, without a registration statement in effect as
to the REAL program, Defendants, directly and indirectly, (a) made use of the means
and instruments of transportation or communications in interstate commerce or of the
mails to sell securities through the use of medium of any prospectus or otherwise; (b)
carried or caused to be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce, by any
means or instruments of transportation, any such security for the purpose of sale or
for delivery after sale; and (c) made use of the means and instruments of
transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to
sell through the use or medium of a prospectus or otherwise, securities as to which no
registration statement had been filed.

189. By engaging in the conduct described herein, Defendants violated, and

unless enjoined will continue to violate, Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act

35



Case 1:25-cv-07284-VMC  Document 1  Filed 12/19/25 Page 36 of 39

[15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77¢(c)].

COUNT VI - OFFERS AND SALES OF
SECURITIES BY UNREGISTERED BROKERS

Violations of Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. § 780(a)]
(Against Bradford and Linarducci)

190. Paragraphs 1 through 171 are realleged and incorporated by reference
herein.

191. Each Defendant, by use of the mails or means or instrumentalities of
interstate commerce, effected transactions in, or induced or attempted to induce the
purchase or sale of, securities without being registered with the Commission as a
broker or dealer or as an associated person of a registered broker or dealer.

192. By engaging in the conduct alleged above, each Defendant has violated,
and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate, Section 15(a) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 780(a)].

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

The Commission respectfully requests that the Court:

1. Find that Defendants committed the violations alleged;

2. Permanently enjoin Defendants and each of their agents, employees,
and attorneys, and any other person or entity in active concert or participation with
them who receives actual notice of the injunction by personal service or otherwise,

from directly or indirectly engaging in conduct in violation of the following
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provisions: Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and

77e(c)]; Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)]; Section 10(b) of
the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. §

240.10b-5]; and Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 780(a)];

3. Order Defendants to each disgorge all ill-gotten gains in the form of
any benefits of any kind derived from the illegal conduct alleged in this Complaint,
plus pay prejudgment interest thereon, pursuant to Sections 21(d)(3)(A)(ii1),
21(d)(5) and 21(d)(7) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d)(3), 78u(d)(5), and
78u(d)(7)];

4. Order Defendants to each pay civil penalties pursuant to Section 20(d)
of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)] in an amount to be determined by the Court;

5. Enter a conduct-based injunction under which each Defendant is
permanently restrained and enjoined from directly or indirectly, including, but not
limited to, through any entity owned or controlled by him, participating in the
issuance, purchase, offer, or sale of any security; provided, however, that such
injunction shall not prevent Defendants Bradford or Linarducci from purchasing or
selling securities for their own personal accounts;

6. Enter a conduct-based injunction against Defendant Linarducci under

which he is restrained and enjoined from, directly or indirectly, acting as or being
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associated with any broker or dealer — i.e., being a partner, officer, director, or
branch manager of such broker or dealer (or occupying a similar status or
performing similar functions), directly or indirectly controlling, being controlled
by, or being under common control with such broker or dealer, or being an
employee of such broker or dealer;

7. Retain jurisdiction of this action in accordance with the principles of
equity and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in order to implement and carry
out the terms of all orders and decrees that may be entered, or to entertain any
suitable application or motion by the Commission for additional relief within the
jurisdiction of this Court; and

8. Order such other and further relief as this Court may deem just,
equitable, and appropriate in connection with the enforcement of the federal

securities laws and for the protection of investors.

JURY TRIAL DEMAND

The Commission demands a trial by jury as to all issues that may be so
tried.
Dated: December 19, 2025 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Harry B. Roback
Harry B. Roback

Senior Trial Counsel
Georgia Bar No. 706790
robackh@sec.gov
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M. Graham Loomis
Regional Trial Counsel
Georgia Bar No. 457868
loomism(@sec.gov

Pat Huddleston II
Senior Trial Counsel
Georgia Bar No. 373984
huddlestonp@sec.gov

Attorneys for Plaintiff

Securities and Exchange Commission
950 East Paces Ferry Road, NE, Suite 900
Atlanta, GA 30326

Tel: (404) 942-0690

Facsimile: 4048427679@fax.sec.gov
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